STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Appeal No. 14-AP-982-CR

RECEIVED

07-15-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMIE R. ANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT, ENTERED IN THE MONROE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT ON FEBRUARY 11, 2014, HON. MARK L. GOODMAN PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDICES OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, JAMIE RUSSELL ANDERSON

Frank J. Remington Center University of Wisconsin Law School 975 Bascom Mall Madison, WI 53706 (608) 262-1002

Jeremy Newman State Bar No. 1084404 Sara Kelton Brelie State Bar No. 10779775

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court err in concluding that Anderson was statutorily ineligible for sentence adjustment under Wis. Stat. § 973.195?

The circuit court concluded that Anderson was ineligible for sentence adjustment because he was not serving a Class C through I felony.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Anderson does not request oral argument because the briefs will adequately address all relevant issues, but he does request publication because this case presents this Court with an opportunity to (1) contribute to the legal literature by collecting case law or reciting legislative history, and (2) decide a case of substantial and continuing public interest. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a). For these reasons, Anderson has motioned the chief judge of the court of appeals to order that this case be decided by a three-judge panel, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 752.31(3). Anderson welcomes oral argument if the Court deems it necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 2, 2013, Jamie Anderson pled no contest to two counts of misdemeanor battery, as a repeater, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.19(1) and 939.62(1)(a) (2009-10) (60:1; App.A). On the same day, the court sentenced Anderson to two years imprisonment on each count, bifurcated into one year initial confinement and one year extended supervision (60:1; App.A).¹ The court ordered the sentences to run concurrent to each other (60:2; App.A).

On January 29, 2014, after serving 75 percent of the confinement portion of each sentence, Anderson submitted two petitions for sentence adjustment, one for each count, (61:1, 62:1; App.B, App.C) and a "supplemental petition" (63:1-2; App.D) to the Wisconsin Department of Corrections (DOC) records office at New Lisbon Correctional Institution. DOC records office staff completed a verification of time served form for each of Anderson's petitions (61:2, 62:2; App.B, App.C) and forwarded the documents to the Monroe County Circuit Court.

The court received Anderson's sentence adjustment petitions and related documents on February 7, 2014 (64:1; App.E). The Monroe County District Attorney objected to Anderson's petition on February 10, 2014 (64:1; App.E), and on February 11, 2014, the court denied Anderson's petitions for sentence adjustment without a hearing (65:1-3; App.F). According to the written explanation attached to the order, the court denied Anderson's petitions for sentence adjustment because

> [t]he relief available under *sec. 973.195, Wis. Stats.*, is only available to those defendants who were convicted of Class C to Class I felonies. Since this defendant was convicted of misdemeanors and not convicted of any

¹ The base penalty for each count was up to nine months imprisonment. Wis. Stat. § 939.51(1)(a), (3)(a) (2009-10). As a repeater, Anderson's penalty was "increased to not more than 2 years." Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(a) (2009-10). Under Wis. Stat. §§ 973.02, 973.01(1), and 973.01(2)(b)10. (2009-10), Anderson's enhanced misdemeanor sentence was required to be bifurcated and served in prison. *See also State v. Lasanske*, 2014 WI App 26, ¶1, 353 Wis. 2d 280, 844 N.W.2d 417 (resolving the "vexing problem of how our trial courts may structure bifurcated sentences when the base penalty for a misdemeanor does not require bifurcation but an applicable enhancement does").

Class C to I felony, he is ineligible to have his misdemeanor sentences adjusted under *sec.* 973.195, *Wis. Stats.*

(65:3; App.F).

Anderson was released from prison on February 25, 2014, after serving one year of initial confinement, and is currently serving the extended supervision portion of his sentence (68:1-2).

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case presents a question of statutory interpretation, which appellate courts review de novo. State v. Tucker, 2005 WI 46, ¶11, 279 Wis. 2d 697, 694 N.W.2d 926 (citing Meriter Hospital Inc. v. Dane County, 2004 WI 145, 277 Wis. 2d 1, 689 N.W.2d 627). The primary goal of statutory interpretation is "to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper and intended effect." Tucker, 279 Wis. 2d 697, ¶11. A reviewing court's analysis begins with the plain language of the statutory text, which must be judged in light of its textually manifest scope and purpose. Id.; State v. Stenklyft, 2005 WI 71, ¶7, 281 Wis. 2d 484, 697 N.W.2d 769. Additionally, context and the structure of the statute are important to meaning. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Case law interpreting a statute is also relevant to the statute's plain meaning. *Berkos* v. Shipwreck Bay Condominium Ass'n, 2008 WI App 122, ¶8, 313 Wis. 2d 609, 758 N.W.2d 215.

If the statute is clear on its face, the court need not consult extrinsic sources of interpretation and should apply the statute using the common and generally accepted meanings of terms. *Tucker*, 279 Wis. 2d 697, ¶11. However, if the text of a statute "leads to two equally reasonable interpretations," the court may then "turn to the statute's history and other extrinsic sources to guide [its] analysis." *Id.*, ¶17.

II. ANDERSON WAS ELIGIBLE TO PETITION FOR SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT UNDER WIS. STAT. § 973.195 UPON SERVING 75 PERCENT OF THE CONFINEMENT PORTION OF HIS SENTENCE.

The circuit court's decision to deny Anderson's petition for sentence adjustment was based exclusively on the court's conclusion that sentence adjustment only applies to defendants convicted of Class C through I felonies (65:1-3; App.F). While Anderson argues that Wis. Stat. §§ 973.195(1r) and 973.01(1), as well as *Tucker*, 279 Wis. 2d 697, ¶17, contradict the circuit court's conclusion, he also recognizes that Wis. Stat. § 973.195 is poorly drafted and ambiguous on multiple points, including the issue presented in this case. At its heart, Anderson's argument is simple: inmates serving bifurcated misdemeanor sentences, imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.01, are eligible to petition for sentence adjustment under Wis. Stat. § 973.195 based on the clear language of these statutes, despite the statutory silence as to when they may petition. With respect to section 973.195's ambiguity, the history, purpose, and scope of the sentence adjustment provision, as well as the applicable case law, resolve any ambiguity in favor of eligibility after these inmates serve 75 percent of their prison sentences.

A. The Sentence Adjustment Statute Is Ambiguous As Applied To Inmates Serving Bifurcated Misdemeanor Sentences On The Issue Of *When* They May Petition.

Eligibility to petition for sentence adjustment is controlled by Wis. Stat. 973.195(1r)(a), which provides in relevant part:

Except as provided in s. 973.198, an inmate who is serving *a sentence imposed under s.* 973.01 for a crime other than a Class B felony may petition the sentencing court to adjust the sentence if the inmate has served at least the applicable percentage of the term of confinement in prison portion of the sentence.

(Emphasis added.) Section 973.01(1) of the Wisconsin Statutes requires a bifurcated sentence to be imposed

whenever a court sentences a person to imprisonment in the Wisconsin state prisons for a felony committed on or after December 31, 1999, *or a misdemeanor committed on or after February 1, 2003*.

(Emphasis added).²

Thus, Wis. Stat. § 973.195(1r)(a) creates two basic eligibility requirements for sentence adjustment: (1) the inmate must be "serving a sentence imposed under s. 973.01 for a crime other than a Class B felony"³ and (2) the inmate

 $^{^{2}}$ Under Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2), the initial period of confinement of a bifurcated sentence, by definition, must be served in prison.

³ Inmates serving Class A felonies are also prohibited from petitioning for sentence adjustment under Wis. Stat. § 973.195(1r)(a) because life sentences are imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g) rather than Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1).

must serve "at least the applicable percentage of the term of confinement."

An inmate serving a bifurcated misdemeanor sentence is undoubtedly "serving a sentence imposed under s. 973.01." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1). However, subsection 973.195(1g) fails to define the "applicable percentage" for misdemeanor offenses. Instead, subsection (1g) defines "applicable percentage" as "85% for a Class C to E felony and 75% for a Class F to I felony." As a result, the statutory text is silent as to *when* an inmate serving a bifurcated misdemeanor sentence may petition for sentence adjustment.

In *Tucker*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed Wis. Stat. § 973.195's application to a different group of inmates serving Truth in Sentencing (TIS) bifurcated sentences-inmates serving TIS-I felony sentences, which had yet to be reclassified under TIS-II. 279 Wis. 2d 697, ¶14. Recognizing that a person serving a sentence under TIS-I is serving a sentence imposed under section 973.01, the court reasoned that subsection 973.195(1r) supports an interpretation that the statute applies to TIS-I inmates. Id., ¶15. However, because subsection 973.195(1g) defines the applicable percentage by using TIS-II felony classifications and fails to "indicate how to calculate the "applicable percentage" for a TIS-I sentence," the court posited that subsection 973.195(1g) supports an interpretation that the the sentence adjustment statute does not apply to TIS-I inmates. Id., ¶16, 22. Since the text of Wis. Stat. § 973.195 supports "two equally reasonable interpretations," the court concluded that the statute was ambiguous and turned to the "statutes's history and other extrinsic sources to guide [its] analysis." Id., ¶17. The Tucker court's reasoning that the sentence adjustment statute is ambiguous as applied to TIS-I inmates applies to the issue presented in this case.

Further, early commentary on TIS-II identified the specific statutory ambiguity at issue in this case. *See* Michael B. Brennan et al., *Fully Implementing Truth-in-Sentencing*, 75 Wisconsin Lawyer No. 11 (Nov. 2002), at 54 n.81.⁴ Specifically, Brennan observed that "[w]hile inmates serving a bifurcated sentence for an enhanced misdemeanor apparently may petition for a sentence adjustment, the statute does not specify the applicable percentage of time that they must serve before petitioning and obtaining release." *Id.*

- B. The Sentence Adjustment Statute, When Read In Light Of Its History, Purpose And Scope, And In Accordance With Case Law, Applies To Inmates Serving Bifurcated Misdemeanor Sentences.
 - 1. The history, purpose and scope of the sentence adjustment statute support eligibility.

Truth-in-Sentencing (TIS) came to Wisconsin in two phases, TIS-I and TIS-II. *State v. Stenklyft*, 281 Wis. 2d 484, ¶16. TIS-I, which eliminated parole, was enacted in June 1998 and applied to offenses committed on or after December 31, 1999. *Id.*, ¶16; see also 1997 Wisconsin Act 283. As designed, TIS-I established an 18-month window prior to its effective date, in order to give the the Criminal Penalties Study Committee (CPSC) time to supplement and complete the existing legislation. *Stenklyft*, 281 Wis. 2d 484, ¶18.

The CPSC timely completed its task, but the legislature failed to enact the CPSC's proposals before TIS-I went into effect. *Stenklyft*, 281 Wis. 2d 484, ¶18 (citing *State*

⁴ Available at: <u>http://www.wisbar.org/newspublications/</u> wisconsinlawyer/pages/article.aspx?Volume=75&Issue=11&ArticleID=2 59 (last visited July 11, 2014).

v. Cole, 2003 WI 59, ¶41, 262 Wis. 2d 167, 663 N.W.2d 700). Eventually, in July of 2002, then-Governor Scott McCallum called a special session to deal with Wisconsin's budget crisis, during which the legislature agreed on budget adjustment legislation that included nearly all of the CPSC's proposals. *Stenklyft*, 281 Wis. 2d 484, ¶18 (citing Brennan, *Fully Implementing Truth-in-Sentencing*, at 12).

TIS-II took effect on February 1, 2003. See 2001 Wisconsin Act 109, § 1143; see also Stenklyft, 281 Wis. 2d 484, ¶16. Unlike most other provisions of TIS-II, the sentence adjustment provision was not proposed by the CPSC, but by the senate and assembly budget negotiators during the final stages of the 2002 special session of the legislature. Stenklyft, 281 Wis. 2d 484, ¶23 (citing Brennan, Fully Implementing Truth-in-Sentencing, at 54 n.80).

The purpose of sentence adjustment under Wis. Stat. § 973.195 is clear: "to allow inmates early release from prison once they have begun to serve their sentences." *Id.*, ¶54 (citing Legislative Reference Bureau *Wisconsin Briefs 02-7: Truth-in-Sentencing and Criminal Code Revision*, at 4-5 (Aug. 2002)⁵). The provision's scope and structure also make clear that sentence adjustment is meant to offer the most benefit to the least serious TIS offenders. It explicitly excludes inmates convicted of Class A and B felonies and creates two different "applicable percentages" that require more serious offenders to serve more time in prison before becoming eligible to petition for sentence adjustment. Wis. Stat. §§ 973.195(1r)(a) and (1g).

⁵ Available at: <u>http://legis.wisconsin.gov/LRB/pubs/</u> <u>wisbriefs.htm</u> (accessed by following link for WB 02-7 *Truth-In-Sentencing Criminal Code Revision*, August 2002; last visited July 11, 2014).

Further, subsection 973.01(1) (2001-02), was amended as part of TIS-II to require sentencing courts to bifurcate enhanced misdemeanor prison sentences.⁶ 2001 WI Act 109, § 1114; *see also State v. Lasanske*, 2014 WI App 26, ¶1, 353 Wis. 2d 280, 844 N.W.2d 417. The requirement to bifurcate enhanced misdemeanor sentences stemmed from the CPSC's belief that a "misdemeanant who is dangerous enough or has committed offenses serious enough to warrant incarceration in prison also should receive a bifurcated sentence." Brennan, *Fully Implementing Truth-in-Sentencing*, at 51 n.42. By amending subsection 973.01(1), the legislature codified the CPSC's recommendation that inmates serving enhanced misdemeanor sentences receive treatment similar to inmates serving bifurcated felony sentences.

Put another way, Wis. Stat. § 973.195, when read in the context of TIS-II's amended version of Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1), unambiguously applies to inmates serving bifurcated misdemeanor sentences. While the legislature failed to define the "applicable percentage" for inmates serving enhanced misdemeanor sentences, the history, purpose, and scope of Wis. Stat. § 973.195 resolve any ambiguity in favor of elgibility after these inmates serve 75 percent of their prison sentences.

> 2. *Tucker's* reasoning and remedy supports Anderson's eligibility to petition for sentence adjustment after serving 75 percent of his prison sentence.

As discussed above, the *Tucker* court concluded that the sentence adjustment statute was ambiguous. 279 Wis. 2d 697, ¶17. While noting the "applicable percentage" issue, the court resolved the ambiguity in favor of applying the sentence

⁶ TIS-I's version of Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1) (1999-00) did not require courts to bifurcate enhanced misdemeanor sentences.

adjustment provision to TIS-I inmates. The court simply applied the TIS-II felony classification under Wis. Stat. § 939.50 to persons sentenced under TIS-I for the limited purpose of determining the applicable percentage of a term of initial confinement in a Wis. Stat. § 973.195 petition for sentence adjustment. *Id.*, ¶23. The *Tucker* court reached this conclusion after turning to the statute's context, history, and relevant extrinsic sources. *Id.*, ¶¶17-22.

First, the *Tucker* court looked to other TIS-II provisions for evidence that the legislature intended sentence adjustment to apply to TIS-I offenders. The court reasoned that the legislature's failure to explicitly exclude TIS-I offenders from petitioning for sentence adjustment was a "strong indication" of positive legislative intent to include them. *Id.*, ¶17.

Second, the *Tucker* court examined the Legislative Reference Bureau's (LRB) analysis of 2001 Wis. Act 109, which explained that

Petitions for adjustment may be filed, beginning February 1, 2013, by *any* prisoner sentenced for a crime committed since the effective date of bifurcated sentencing (December 31, 1999).... Those convicted of crimes before December 31, 1999, may be eligible for parole consideration and are not permitted to petition under the sentence adjustment procedure.

Id., ¶18 (citing LRB, *Truth-in-Sentencing*, at 4^7).

Next, the *Tucker* court examined the "change in law or procedure" basis for sentence adjustment. *Id.*, ¶19. The court concluded that "the very act that changed the penalty

⁷ *See supra*, footnote 4.

structure for numerous offenses also provided a mechanism for adjusting sentences based on a change in law or procedure related to sentencing or revocation of extended supervision" Id., ¶20. In sum, the *Tucker* court determined that a drafting oversight, which resulted in an ambiguous statute, did not foreclose TIS-I inmates from petitioning for sentence adjustment.

The same type of analysis can be applied to Anderson's case. First, similar to the *Tucker* court's analysis of the sentence adjustment statute as applied to TIS-I inmates, id., ¶17, other provisions of TIS-II demonstrate legislative intent that sentence adjustment applies to inmates serving bifurcated misdemeanor sentences. See Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1). Additionally, the facts that Wis. Stat. \S 973.01(1) mandates the bifurcation of enhanced misdemeanor sentences and that it took effect alongside Wis. Stat. § 973.195, are evidence that the legislature intended for habitual misdemeanants to be eligible to petition for sentence adjustment after serving 75 percent of the initial period of confinement of a bifurcated sentence.

While it is unfortunate that subsection 973.195(1g) does not explicitly define the "applicable percentage" for bifurcated misdemeanor sentences, the structure of the provision supports Anderson's eligibility after serving 75 perent of the confinement portion of his sentence. Subsection 973.195(1g) distinguishes between the most and least serious TIS offenders by requiring inmates serving Class C, D, and F felony sentences to serve 85 percent of their confinement period prior to petitioning for sentence adjustment, while inmates convicted of less serious felonies may petition after serving only 75 percent of the confinement portion of their sentences.

Habitual misdemeanants are most similarly situated to the felons who may petition at 75 percent. The maximum enhanced misdemeanor sentence is two years, Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(a), and the maximum term of initial confinement is 18 months, Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)10. By comparison, the maximum sentence for a Class I felony is three years and six months, Wis. Stat. § 939.50(3)(i), and the maximum term of initial confinement is 18 months, Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b)9. Hence, habitual misdemeanants are subject to the same maximum period of initial confinement in prison as Class I felons. Therefore, under Wis. Stat. § 973.195(1g), it is reasonable to conclude that each group is eligible to petition for sentence adjustment after serving 75 percent of their prison sentence.

C. Other Extrinsic Sources Support Eligibility

In order to petition for sentence adjustment under Wis. Stat. § 973.195, inmates *must* follow procedures outlined in two Wisconsin Circuit Court forms, "Petition for Sentence Adjustment §973.195" (CR-258) and "Verification of Time Served §973.195" (CR-261).⁸ These forms are the product of Wisconsin Records Management Committee, a committee of the Director of State Court's Office and a mandate of the Wisconsin Judicial Conference. Neither form precludes inmates serving bifurcated misdemeanor sentences from petitioning for sentence adjustment. While the inmate completes the "Petition for Sentence Adjustment §973.195," the "Verification of Time Served §973.195" is completed by the DOC in order to verify that the inmate has served the "applicable percentage" required to petition for sentence adjustment. As evidenced by Anderson's case, the DOC

⁸ Circuit Court forms *available at*: <u>http://www.wicourts.gov</u>/forms1/circuit/ccform.jsp?FormName=&FormNumber=&beg_date=&e nd_date=&StatuteCite=&Category=41&SubCat=Truth%20in%20Senten cing.

interprets Wis. Stat. § 973.195 to allow inmates serving bifurcated misdemeanor sentences to petition for sentence adjustment after serving 75 percent of their term of confinement.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD ADDRESS THE ISSUE PRESENTED EVEN THOUGH ANDERSON CAN NO LONGER PETITION FOR SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT.

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