RECEIVED 10-20-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff – Respondent

VS

Appeal No. 14-AP-982-CR Circuit Court Case No. 2011CM000512

JAIME R. ANDERSON

Defendant – Appellant

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT, ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 11, 2014

In the Monroe County Circuit Court, The Honorable Mark L. Goodman, Presiding

PLAINTIFF – RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE MONROE COUNTY

By: Kevin D. Croninger

State Bar No. 1065704

COURTHOUSE ROOM 201 112 SOUTH COURT STREET

SPARTA WI 54656

Phone: (608) 269-8780 Fax: (608) 269-8919

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

sentence adjustment, then Anderson and his attorneys should appeal a case where the defendant was actually denied the right to petition for sentence adjustment.

A review of the procedure of the case exhibits that Anderson was treated as if he was eligible for sentence adjustment. Anderson's petition for sentence adjustment was filed with the Court. See Anderson Br. App. pg 2. If the Court had denied the petition at that point and attached a letter stating the defendant was ineligible for sentence adjustment, then perhaps Anderson's appeal would have merit(the purported issue/issues would still be moot but may present an actual issue/issues for the Court of Appeals to address), however, the Court did not outright deny the petition but rather held the petition for further consideration as is allowed under Wis. Stat. §973.195(1r)(c). See Id. The Court then followed the procedure related to petitions for sentence adjustment under Wis. Stat. §973.195. See Anderson Br. App. pg 2 and Wis. Stat. §973.195. The Court notified the District Attorney of the inmate's petition as is required under Wis. Stat. §973.195(1r)(c). See Anderson Br. App. pg. 2. The District Attorney was given an opportunity to respond to the inmate's (Anderson's) petition. *Id.* The District Attorney, objected to the petition. *Id.* Based on this objection and according to Wis. Stat. §973.195(1r)(5)(c) the Court "shall" deny Anderson's petition. The Court did deny the petition as it was supposed to do under the statute. See Anderson Br. App. pg. 2. The State acknowledges that the findings of the Court in State v. Stenklyft, 2005 WI 71, 281 Wis. 2d 484, 697 N.W. 2d 452, limited the forcefulness of the "shall requirement" to more of a, directive that the Court should deny the petition if the Circuit Court agrees with the objection, requirement. However, the State asserts the findings of the Court in Stenklyft, did not modify the language of the statute, nor did the Court in *Stenklyft* find that the opinion of the District Attorney should not be given significant weight. Anderson attempts to argue that the decision to deny Anderson's petition was based solely on the Court's conclusion that sentence adjustment only applies to defendant convicted of Class C through I felonies. Anderson. Br. App. pg. 4.

Anderson appears to completely overlook the fact that the District Attorney had objected to the petition.

Anderson further fails to explain how he was denied the opportunity to petition for sentence adjustment. The fact the Court allowed Anderson to file a petition and then forwarded that petition to the District Attorney exhibits that in reality the Court treated Anderson's petition differently than a petition from a person who was convicted of a Class C through I felony. The only fact Anderson can point to which indicates Anderson was denied eligibility for sentence adjustment is an irrelevant written dicta statement from the Court. Had the Court simply denied the petition without a reason (which the Court is allowed to do) then there would be no issue. Anderson takes a statement that was not required to be made by the Court and expands it into an argument that the only reason for the denial of the petition was that the Court did not believe the defendant was eligible to petition. If that was the only reason Anderson's petition was denied, then why did the Court send the petition to the District Attorney for his input? Anderson has failed to and the State asserts will continue to fail to point to any evidence which shows that Anderson was denied the ability to petition for sentence adjustment. The fact of the matter is that Anderson was allowed to petition for sentence adjustment. Therefore, the issue of whether a defendant sentenced to prison on misdemeanors is eligible for sentence adjustment is not even presented in the present case and Anderson's appeal should be denied.

II. THE COURT'S EXPLANATION OF THE DENIAL OF THE PETITION FOR SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT IS IRRELEVANT DICTA, THEREFORE DOES NOT WARRANT ANY CONSIDERATION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS.

The entirety of the Anderson's brief appears to hinge on the statement from the Court in denying Anderson's petition for sentence adjustment. As the State understands the Anderson's argument, Anderson asserts he was

denied an opportunity at his statutory right to petition for sentence adjustment because the Circuit Court erred in finding him ineligible for sentence adjustment. Anderson apparently bases this argument on the letter from the Circuit Court stating that Anderson was not statutorily eligible for sentence adjustment. The State asserts the Circuit Court's statement that Anderson was statutorily ineligible for sentence adjustment was irrelevant dicta, has no legal meaning and therefore does not raise any issues which are worth any consideration.

The attached explanation from the Court stating a reason for denial of the petition for sentence adjustment is dicta and is irrelevant because neither the explanation nor the reasoning within the explanation had any bearing on the ultimate outcome of the petition. The sending of the petition by the Court to the District Attorney, exhibits that no matter what the opinion of the Court was as to Anderson's eligibility, the Court treated Anderson as if he was eligible to petition for sentence adjustment. Once the Court sent the petition to the District Attorney and the District Attorney objected to the petition, the Court's opinion on whether Anderson was eligible for sentence adjustment became irrelevant as the Court was obligated (or more appropriately stated "directed" per the Court in *Stenklyft*) to deny the petition under Wis. Stat §973.195(5)(c). Additionally there is no requirement that the Court attach any reason for denial of a petition for sentence adjustment. *See WIs. Stat.* §973.195. Therefore, any statement by the Court, related to the Anderson's eligibly for sentence adjustment is irrelevant dicta.

The State further submits the Court could have attached a statement denying the petition for the most unexplainable of reasons (for instance a statement that said Anderson's petition was being denied because the Green Bay Packers did not win the Super Bowl in 2014) and it would have no more bearing on the present case than the statement that was attached by the Court. If Anderson were eligible to petition for sentence adjustment, which the State asserts the Circuit Court treated him as though he was, then the Circuit Court was directed by the legislature to deny the petition when the District Attorney objected to the

petition, therefore, any other explanation related to the denial of the petition was irrelevant dicta and does not raise any issues which warrant review. Given the Court's statement related to the denial of the petition was irrelevant dicta, Anderson's appeal should be denied.

III. ANDERSON'S CASE DOES NOT PRESENT THE ISSUES HE IS ASKING THE COURT TO MAKE NEW LAW ON. THEREFORE HIS APPEAL SHOULD BE DENIED.

The State does not dispute that in certain unique situations Courts of Appeal or the Wisconsin Supreme Court should review cases in which the issues are moot in the case actually appealed, but the issues are likely to repeat themselves and evade review. However, the present case is not such a case. Anderson is creating an issue where one does not exist. Anderson is obviously unimpressed by the current the state of the law related to inmates sentenced to prison on misdemeanors. The problem for Anderson and his appeal is that, he was not denied the ability to petition for sentence adjustment. There is an appropriate procedure to change law within the state. Appealing a case where the defendant was not denied the right to petition for sentence adjustment is not an appropriate means by which to change or clarify the law relating to petitions for sentence adjustment. Obviously, Anderson has attempted to select a case in which Anderson felt the Court denied the right to petition for sentence adjustment on a misdemeanor prison sentence. The problem Anderson has is that in his case he was allowed to petition for sentence adjustment on a misdemeanor prison sentence. This petition was simply denied. Anderson's focus and argument on the statement from the sentencing Court is misguided, as the sentencing Court treated Anderson as if he was eligible. Given the Court treated Anderson as if he was eligible for sentence adjustment the Court in a position of being directed by the legislature to deny the petition based on the objection of the District Attorney. If the appellant does not agree with or desires a change in the current state of the law

the appellant should either 1. Petition and advocate in front of the Wisconsin legislature or 2. Appeal a case in which the defendant was actually denied the right to petition for sentence adjustment on a misdemeanor prison sentence. It would be an absurd result that a defendant or any party for that matter, could appeal a case on an issue/issues that were not present in his case. It would be additionally absurd if parties were/are allowed to appeal every single dicta type statement made by a Court. Undoubtedly across this State millions of dicta type statements are made by Courts every year. Likely many of these statements may be incorrect or controversial statements on unsettled areas of the law, however, this does not mean that every single time a Court makes a statement that a party should or is allowed to appeal and ask the Court of Appeals to scold the Circuit Court related to the dicta statement. Anderson's appeal does not raise any issues related to the new law he wants the Court to make, therefore, his appeal should be denied.

IV. EVEN IF THE COURT FINDS ANDERSON HAS PRESENTED REVIEWABLE ISSUE/ISSUES ANDERSON'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT STATUTE DOES NOT APPLY TO MISDEMEANANTS SENTENCED TO PRISON.

A. THE SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT STATUTE DOES NOT APPLY TO MISDEMEANTANTS SENTENCED TO PRISON .

Misdemeanants sentence in to prison in Wisconsin do not meet the eligibility requirements to petition for sentence adjustment. Therefore, misdemeanants are not eligible to petition for sentence adjustment under Wis. Stat. 973.195. Anderson notes in his brief the two basic eligibility requirements for sentence adjustment are "(1) ...must be 'serving a sentence under s. 973.01 for a crime other than a Class B felony...(2) the inmate must serve 'at least he applicable percentage of the term of confinement'" *Br. App. Pg. 5-6*. Anderson

further notes in his brief that the legislature took the time in Wis. Stat. §973.19(1g) to differentiate the eligible percentage of sentence completed for application for class C, D, and E felonies and Class F, G, H, I felonies. See Id. at 6. The legislature did not however specify or indicate any applicable percentage for misdemeanants sentenced to prison. If the legislature desired for misdemeanants to be eligible for sentence adjustment they would have taken the time to define an applicable percentage. Anderson argues that the failure to provide an applicable percentage for misdemeanants is simply an oversight by the legislature, this seems highly unlikely given the legislature took the time to designate an applicable percentage for seven other classifications of crimes. The legislature's decision to not an include an applicable percentage for those convicted of misdemeanors to apply for sentence adjustment is indicative of the legislature's desire that misdemeanants not be eligible for sentence adjustment. Furthermore, because there is no applicable percentage which applies to misdemeanants sentenced to prison, misdemeanants sentenced to prison are not eligible to petition for sentence adjustment.

B. IT IS NOT SURPRISING THAT THE LEGISLATURE CHOSE TO NOT MAKE MISDEMEANANTS ELIGIBLE FOR SENTENCE ADJUSTMENT.

It is not surprising that the legislature chose to treat misdemeanants differently than felony offender as misdemeanants sentence to prison are in an inherently different situation than felony offenders being sentenced to prison. Given that misdemeanant defendants are in an inherently different situation than felony offenders sentenced to prison, misdemeanant defendants should be treated differently than felony offenders sentenced to prison. Given the inherent differences of misdemeanant and a felon being convicted to prison the mere fact that lower class felonies are eligible to petition for sentence adjustment, is not and should not be indicative that the legislature intended for misdemeanants to be

eligible to petition for sentence adjustment. Anderson's argument as such and his argument related to the application of sentence adjustment to TIS-II sentences or any felony sentence as being similarly situated as habitual misdemeanants sentenced to prison should be discounted. Anderson fails to acknowledge or discuss the major factors which differentiate misdemeanants sentenced to prison and any of the classification of crimes for which defendants are eligible for sentence adjustment. Those facts being that misdemeanants being sentenced to prison are being sentenced on misdemeanors not felonies and are per se criminal repeaters. Obviously throughout the rest of the statutes the legislature has determined that those who qualify as criminal repeaters should be treated differently than those convicted who are not criminal repeaters. Additionally throughout the rest of the statutes the legislature has determined that those convicted of felonies should be treated differently than those convicted of misdemeanors. It is not surprising then that the legislature chose to treat misdemeanants who qualify as repeaters, differently than they chose to treat those convicted of felonies.

Anderson argues that given felonies are eligible for sentence adjustment then misdemeanors must also be eligible for sentence adjustment, this argument further fails because this argument is simply not logically consistent with the diverse way in which the legislature treats felonies in misdemeanors throughout the rest of the statutes. As argued above misdemeanants being sentenced to prison are not similar to any other defendant. They are the type of people who the criminal justice system has identified as posing a significant risk to public safety but have not committed a felony level offense. They by rule must qualify as criminal repeaters under Wis. Stat. §939.62(1)(a). Given they are criminal repeaters they are the type of people who are less likely to be amendable to rehabilitative efforts of criminal justice facilities. Additionally, because they are being sentence to prison the amount of time for which the sentencing Court can confine the defendant to protect the public is relatively limited. Undoubtedly, the

legislature was first and foremost concerned with rehabilitation when they created the sentence adjustment statute because the first factor the legislature directed courts to consider when considering sentence adjustment was the rehabilitative efforts of the defendant. *See Wis. Stat.* §973.195(1r)(b)1. Therefore, it is not surprising that the legislature did not make misdemeanants sentenced to prison eligible to petition for sentence adjustment, as misdemeanants sentence to prison fall into a unique category of criminal defendants sentenced to prison, they are the only criminal defendants sentenced to prison who all qualify as criminal repeaters.

V. CONCLUSION.

Anderson is attempting to make new law, however, the present case simply does not present the issue (whether a defendant sentenced to prison on misdemeanors is eligible to petition for sentence adjustment) Anderson wants the Court of Appeals to make new law on. The facts of Anderson's case exhibit that he was treated no differently than a person who had been sentenced to prison on a Class C through I felony. Anderson was given the opportunity to petition for sentence adjustment and the Circuit Court followed the procedure of the sentence adjustment statute in relation to Anderson's petition. Given the Circuit Court treated Anderson no differently than a person petition for adjustment on a Class C through I felony, the Circuit Court was in a position where the legislature had directed that the Court deny the petition once the District Attorney had objected. The later statement by the Circuit Court related to the eligibility of misdemeanants sentenced to prison and their eligibility to petition for sentence adjustment is irrelevant dicta and does not change the fact that Anderson was treated as if he

was eligible to petition for sentence adjustment, nor does it change the fact that his petition was properly denied by the Circuit Court. Whether misdemeanants are eligible to petition for sentence adjustment may or may not present an appropriate

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